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The Palace of Holyroodhouse and the new Scottish Parliament in the Old Town below Salisbury Crags and Arthur’s Seat.
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Introduction


SCOTLAND’S CAPITAL CITY is unique for its layers of historic buildings on a volcanic landscape eroded by an Ice Age glacier. There are panoramas, perspectives and sudden views – where turning corners in the medieval Old Town will reveal the spiky-roofed Gothic splendour of St Giles’ High Kirk, the neoclassical New Town, the Greek Revival ‘field of monuments’ on Calton Hill and the North Sea. An extinct volcano, Arthur’s Seat, and Edinburgh Castle loom above everything.


The Old and New Towns are separated by a glacial valley drained of its Nor’ (North) Loch and landscaped in the 19th century to create Princes Street Gardens, one of the world’s great urban parks. Railway tracks to Waverley Station were laid in the 1840s below Castle Rock. The station was named after the ‘Waverley’ novels of Sir Walter Scott. His monument, a fantastic Gothic pinnacle, punctuates the park. This terrific townscape – Castle Rock, the Old and New Towns, Calton Hill, and Princes Street Gardens – was declared in 1995 a UNESCO World Heritage Site.


This guide features the best of the city’s world heritage and modern architecture along with historic sites and buildings in the hinterland where suburbs absorbed rural villages in the 19th and 20th centuries. The six self-guided tours are organised for walking, cycling, public transit or car, with entries numbered and keyed to maps. Monuments and sculpture are featured, especially in the city centre where, if you look up, 19th-century classical- and Renaissance-style statues stare out from façades everywhere.


Much of the Old Town is a Victorian fantasy with buildings designed in the romantic Scots Baronial style popularised by Walter Scott. The main street is the Royal Mile – Castlehill, the Lawnmarket, High Street and the Canongate – arrow-straight from the Castle to the Stuart dynasty’s Palace of Holyroodhouse and the new Scottish Parliament. From 1860 to 1900, two-thirds of the medieval buildings in the Old Town were demolished for slum clearance and civic improvement, but the pattern of settlement remains. Old ‘wynds’ and ‘closes’ (the shadowy alleys and entrances to tenement courtyards) branch off perpendicular to the Royal Mile. Most were named after their builders or residents or commercial activities: for example, Advocates’, Brodie’s, Lady Stair’s, Fishmarket, Fleshmarket, Sugarhouse. Some are said to be haunted.


Edinburgh, a clean-air city, wasn’t always so. It was known as ‘Auld Reekie’ for the stink before modern sanitation, and for the smoke from coal fires that lingered like fog above the tenements, described by Robert Louis Stevenson as ‘smoky beehives, ten stories high’. They were a response to the topography – the Old Town tumbles down a steep-sided volcanic ridge on which the only way to accommodate its citizens was to build high. By the mid 18th century, the overcrowded environment, where rich and poor scurried around amidst opulence and squalor, had become unsustainable.


Lord Provost George Drummond visualised a new town and promoted a design competition for it. The New Town Plan of 1767 was a symbol of the Age of Enlightenment, the revival of classical culture in which Scotland played a significant role. More than any other European city, Edinburgh expressed the Enlightenment in architecture. The design of the National Monument on Calton Hill was copied from the Parthenon; the Royal Scottish Academy and the National Gallery are also classical in style. The city acquired a new nickname: ‘The Athens of the North’.


Edinburgh’s conventional narrative of enlightenment and cultural heritage ignores many ghosts. The most disturbing are those from the transatlantic slave trade. Sugarhouse Close was named for a refinery where sugar produced by African slaves on colonial plantations in the Caribbean was processed. Many of the plantations were owned by Scottish merchants. Profits from plantations and the wealth created by British imperialism enriched the nation. Edinburgh, like other cities and institutions, has recently acknowledged its involvement with slavery and colonial conquest.


Edinburgh World Heritage Site has so many buildings of interest listed by Historic Environment Scotland that not all could be included in this guide. Those featured have been chosen variously for their architectural qualities, social, cultural and political histories, and sustainability (meaning ‘green’, eco-friendly). Doors Open Days, the annual opportunity to see inside buildings not normally open to the public, are recommended. Some properties are only open in season, on weekends or for special events, notably the Edinburgh International Festival. The opening page of each tour lists personal favourites not to be missed.


Robin Ward, Edinburgh 2025
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The Gothic Revival west front of St Giles’ High Kirk is decorated with gargoyles and statues of Scottish monarchs and clerics. St Giles, Edinburgh’s patron saint, appears in the shadow of the arch with the deer he is said to have saved from a hunter’s arrow.




Best of the best
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View from Edinburgh Castle: Few cities reveal their social and topographical development as dramatically as Edinburgh. In all directions from Castle Rock the city is spread out like a map. Seen here (left to right) are Calton Hill with the North Sea on the horizon, the domes, spires and steeples of the Old Town, Castle Esplanade, Salisbury Crags and Arthur’s Seat.


The castle was besieged, burned and rebuilt over the centuries. The most daring exploit was its capture in 1314 by the Earl of Moray who led a band of patriots up Castle Rock at night by a secret route and seized it from the English garrison. Bonnie Prince Charlie’s Jacobite army failed to capture it in 1745, the last time it was attacked.
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Edinburgh World Heritage Site seen from Calton Hill: The contrast between the medieval Old Town and the Georgian New Town defines Edinburgh’s physical character – an architectural Jekyll and Hyde. Robert Louis Stevenson stood here and noted in his narrative of the city, Edinburgh, Picturesque Notes: ‘You mount by stairs in a cutting of the rock to find yourself in a field of monuments. Of all places for a view, this Calton Hill is perhaps the best.’ The monument shown here, by William Playfair, architect of ‘The Athens of the North’, honours philosopher Dugald Stewart. The curly building on the right crowns a new layer of development, the St James Quarter.
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The Thistle Chapel: The Order of the Thistle, Scotland’s oldest and premier order of chivalry, is awarded by the monarch to Scots or people of Scots ancestry as a reward for distinguished service. The Thistle Chapel in St Giles’ High Kirk is suitably decorated with religious and heraldic iconography of exceptional artistry and craftsmanship.
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Playfair Library: This magnificent neoclassical room is a must-see in the Old College, the site where the University of Edinburgh was established in 1583. The library, a barrel-vaulted promenade lined with classical columns and busts of past professors, was named after its architect William Playfair.
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The Bank of Scotland: Scotland’s oldest bank was founded in 1695 by an Act of the Scottish Parliament. Its palatial Victorian headquarters dominates The Mound. The dome is crowned with a statue of ‘Fame’ above those representing Britannia and her Children, History, Geography, Navigation, Commerce, Prosperity and Plenty.
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Fettes College: Edinburgh has several ‘pauper palaces’, endowed by Victorian philanthropy to educate underprivileged children. Fettes is the most extravagant of them all – a mélange of Scots Baronial and Loire château styles with a potpourri of pinnacles, statues and turrets, gargoyles, carved grape vines, serpents, birds and bees.
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McEwan Hall, the University of Edinburgh: The most opulent graduation and concert hall in Europe and probably the only one funded by sales of beer. Its benefactor was brewery baron William McEwan. The belle-époque auditorium is as grand as any opera house. Neoclassical murals symbolising Arts and Sciences adorn the dome.
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Mansfield-Traquair Centre: ‘Edinburgh’s Sistine Chapel’, a barrel-vaulted nave, chancel and side chapels covered with murals. The work was commissioned by the Catholic Apostolic Church whose members believed in the Second Coming of Christ. The interior was decorated accordingly by Arts and Crafts artist Phoebe Traquair.
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Scottish National Portrait Gallery: Statues of William Wallace and Robert the Bruce, heroes of the Wars of Independence in the 13th and 14th centuries, guard the entrance to this Victorian palace of Scottish culture and its people. The Grand Hall, where visitors are greeted by a marble statue of Robert Burns, is decorated with dazzling murals and an astrological ceiling.
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The new Scottish Parliament, ‘democracy by design’: No other 21st-century building in Scotland has surpassed this one for complexity, cost, controversy and creativity. The office pods on the Members’ Block (with visual clues to the Old Town’s crow-stepped gables and oak lattice screens for shade) were conceived as ‘monks’ cells’ to encourage the politicians to think!
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Leith Old Harbour: Coastal and sea-going sailing ships crowded the harbour until the mid 19th century when deep-water docks were built for steamships. The once tidal haven, where the Water of Leith flowed to the sea, has been maintained at high-water level since 1968 when a barrier and lock gate were installed in the outer harbour.


The east quayside, known as The Shore, is picturesque with historic buildings (and new ones in heritage style). The architecture is Scottish but the scene could be Hanseatic, reflecting old Leith’s trade with the nations of continental Europe, recalled in street names – Baltic, Cadiz, Elbe and Madeira.




Tour A


Holyrood and the Old Town


Holyrood Abbey


Palace of Holyroodhouse


Scottish Parliament


Canongate Tolbooth


Museum of Edinburgh


Scottish Storytelling Centre


Old St Paul’s Episcopal Church


The Scotsman Building


City Art Centre


Fruitmarket Gallery


St Giles’ High Kirk and the Thistle Chapel


Patrick Geddes Centre


Ramsay Garden


Edinburgh Castle and the National War Memorial


Central Library


Greyfriars Kirk and Kirkyard


George Heriot’s School


National Museum of Scotland


Surgeons’ Hall


The Old College . . .
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The Writers’ Museum. Robert Burns, Walter Scott and Robert Louis Stevenson haunt this 17th-century house where a compelling collection of memorabilia associated with them is displayed. Their fame and the talents of other writers associated with Edinburgh led to the city being declared in 2004 the world’s first UNESCO City of Literature.
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A 1


Holyrood Abbey


Holyrood Park


This was the Augustinian Abbey of Holyrood (Holy Cross) founded in 1128 by King David I. Legend has it that while out hunting deer he was attacked and thrown from his horse by a stag. He seized its antlers. In a flash of sunlight they were transformed to a holy cross. That night, the king had a vision that he must build the abbey to give thanks. Over the next two centuries it was enlarged – more than twice the size seen today. Excavations in 1911 exposed foundations of long-lost transepts and a chancel.


In the 16th century, the abbey was looted and burned by the English, and the monastic regime ousted during the Protestant Reformation. The traceried east gable dates from Charles I’s Scottish coronation in 1633. James VII expelled the congregation and made the nave the Chapel Royal. A mob stripped it of Catholic symbols in 1688 when James, the last Stuart monarch, was deposed.


The roof collapsed in 1768. Victorian romantics thought the ruined nave sublime. It remains as they saw it, a Gothic ghost beside the Palace of Holyroodhouse.


A 2


The Palace of Holyroodhouse


Holyrood Park


16th century; reconstructed by William Bruce ‘Surveyor of the King’s Buildings in Scotland’ and Robert Mylne ‘King’s Master Mason’ 1671–78


The official residence in Scotland of the reigning British monarch who visits annually, hands out honours and hosts a garden party. But behind the ceremony and decorum there is a bloody story.


Holyroodhouse was conceived by James IV in 1501. James V added the Northwest Tower styled like a Loire château. The palace survived when Edinburgh was invaded in the 1540s – the ‘rough wooing’, an attempt by Henry VIII to have his son Edward marry Mary Queen of Scots and so end the Auld Alliance between France and Scotland.
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Mary is the most romantic and ill-fated royal associated with the palace. It was here, in her chambers in the Northwest Tower, that assassins led by her jealous husband Lord Darnley stabbed to death her private secretary David Rizzio. Stains on the floor are said to be his blood.


In 1603, James VI became James I of England and took the Royal Court to London. Charles II reconstructed and revived Holyroodhouse, creating the symmetrical west front. Its Doric-columned entrance with flamboyant heraldry leads to a Renaissance-style courtyard and the royal apartments. The Long Gallery features portraits of Scottish monarchs. The fountain in the forecourt is a Victorian replica of the one erected for James V at Linlithgow Palace.


A 3


The Scottish Parliament


Canongate


Enric Miralles and Benedetta Tagliabue (EMBT), RMJM architects, Arup engineers 2001–2004


Scotland’s old parliament ‘voted itself out of existence’ in 1707 when the Act of Union with England created the British state, with its parliament in London. Repatriation of the Scottish Parliament was approved by referendum in 1997. A design competition was won by Barcelona architects EMBT. Costs and criticism spiralled as the design evolved but it was a masterpiece in the making.
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The organic plan grows out of the Old Town – a ‘dialogue across time’ architect Miralles said. Leaf and boat shapes symbolise the land and sea of Scotland. The Debating Chamber’s spectacular glulam (glue-laminated) oak trusses recall the 17th-century timber roof of Old Parliament Hall. The Canongate Wall is a collage of poetic quotations and stones from across the nation, with a sketch by Miralles of the Old Town. A 17th-century mansion, Queensberry House, was restored as part of the project.
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Sustainable features include natural ventilation, renewable energy and green roofs, even beehives (the beeswax is used for official seals). The landscape, biodiverse with native plants and flowers, blends with historic Holyrood Park.


A 4


Dynamic Earth


Holyrood Road


Michael Hopkins & Partners 1999


A fabric-skinned pavilion like some prehistoric creature lodged in the shell of a 19th-century brewery. The brewery walls, visible on Queen’s Drive, were disguised as a castle to please Queen Victoria.


The style is High Tech with the roof cable-stayed from steel pylons. Exhibits inside feature Planet Earth. James Hutton, ‘the founder of modern geology’, lived nearby. Directly south are volcanic features that inspired him, Salisbury Crags and Arthur’s Seat.
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A 5


White Horse Close


27 Canongate


[image: ]


Looks like a film set but the buildings are real enough, restored in the 1960s. The close was known for the White Horse Inn where stagecoaches departed to and arrived from London.


During the Jacobite rising of 1745, Bonnie Prince Charlie’s officers lodged here while the prince occupied Holyroodhouse. The name of the close refers to a white horse said to have been stabled here for Mary Queen of Scots.


A 6


Adam Smith’s Panmure House


4 Lochend Close, Canongate


Built in 1691 when the Canongate was a rural, aristocratic suburb of the Old Town. The owner was the Earl of Panmure, a Jacobite who forfeited the property to the British state after the failed rising of 1715.


In 1778, Adam Smith, author of The Wealth of Nations, moved in. Among those drawn to his ‘salons’ were architect Robert Adam, chemist Joseph Black, geologist James Hutton and philosopher Dugald Stewart.
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Their spirit of enquiry inspired the restoration of the house for Heriot-Watt University in 2018 as a forum for economic and social debate. Smith’s elaborate tomb can be found in Canongate Kirkyard.


A 7


112 Canongate


Richard Murphy Architects 1999


This Saltire Society Housing Design Award winner in 2000 was built for the Old Town Housing Association. Timber siding and harled walls evoke the past, along with upper rooms cantilevered from the façade to gain floor space, a typical feature of medieval housing in Edinburgh. The typographic message, ‘A nation is forged in the hearth of poetry’, recalls instructive texts seen on buildings in the Old Town.


In nearby Dunbar’s Close is a 17th-century style garden such as would have been enjoyed by Canongate’s aristocratic residents.
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A 8


Scottish Poetry Library


5 Crichton’s Close, Canongate Malcolm Fraser Architects 1999


Award-winning architecture in an alley of mixed-up buildings (tenements and an old brewery). Outdoor steps were used as seats for readings – poetry en plein air. Unfortunately, this liberating feature was lost when the library, needing more space on the tight site, was enlarged in 2015.
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A 9


Canongate Kirk


153 Canongate


‘Canongate’ refers not to a gate, but gait from the Norse word for ‘street’ where walked the canons of Holyrood Abbey. James VII built the kirk in 1688 for the congregation he evicted from the abbey which he wanted for the Chapel Royal. Funds were from merchant Thomas Moodie, noted on architect James Smith’s Dutch-gabled façade.


Above the rose window is the coat of arms of William of Orange, who took the British throne from James VII. The antlers on top of the gable symbolise the stag in the founding story of Holyrood Abbey. The interior is festooned with royal and regimental banners and flags, this being the Kirk of Holyroodhouse and Edinburgh Castle.


The statue of poet Robert Fergusson striding past the kirk was placed here in 2004. Fergusson was buried in the kirkyard in an unmarked grave. Robert Burns found it ‘unnoticed and unknown’ in 1787 and paid for a headstone inscribed with an elegy he wrote.


A 10


Canongate Tolbooth


163 Canongate


Built in 1591, this was the town hall, jail and courthouse of the old Burgh of Canongate which was absorbed by Edinburgh in 1856. The style is Franco-Scottish – the architecture of the Auld Alliance. The ‘forestair’ from the street led to the council chamber and courtroom; the jail was in the tower.


On the façade is the burgh’s coat of arms dated 1128 (when Holyrood Abbey was founded). Inscriptions in Latin read: ‘Justice, piety, truth, thus is the way to the stars’ and ‘For Native Land and Posterity 1591’. The Victorian attic windows have star and thistle finials. The clock on wrought-iron brackets was installed in 1884; the tavern dates from 1820. The Tolbooth houses Edinburgh Museums’ The People’s Story.
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A 11


The Museum of Edinburgh


140–146 Canongate
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‘The city’s treasure box’ is housed in several buildings, principally the gabled medieval Huntly House named after the Marquess of Huntly.


Originally timber, the house was reconstructed with masonry in 1570. Latin inscriptions on the façade lent the property a nickname: ‘The Talking House’. Bought by the City of Edinburgh in 1924, it is now a museum, a labyrinth to get pleasurably lost in.


Huntly House, Canongate Kirk and the Tolbooth form the largest cluster of 16th- and 17th-century urban buildings in Scotland. Among them is Acheson House in Bakehouse Close. The original owner was Archibald Acheson, a government minister. In the 19th century the close was a slum and Acheson House a tenement and brothel. Today, it is occupied by Edinburgh World Heritage.


A 12


Sugarhouse Close


154–166 Canongate


The name sounds sweet but hides the bitter taste of Scotland’s role in the slave trade. The Edinburgh Sugar House Company opened a refinery here in 1752. The raw material came from plantations worked by African slaves in the Caribbean.


From 1829 to 1852, the refinery was owned by William Macfie & Co., a sugar dynasty established in 1788 at Greenock (Port Glasgow). Above the entrance is a panel with the Clan Macfie lion rampant and motto Pro Rege meaning ‘For the King’. The close was redeveloped as a brewery in the 1860s and recently as student housing.
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A 13


Moray House


174 Canongate
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Now the main academic office of the University of Edinburgh’s Moray House School of Education, this is the finest of old Canongate’s aristocratic townhouses. It was built c.1620 for the Countess of Home whose coat of arms is above the corbelled balcony on Canongate. Her daughter, the Countess of Moray, inherited the property in 1645.


The garden once extended to what is now Holyrood Road, from where you can see the Summer House. Inside, according to Walter Scott, the ‘false and corrupted statesmen’ who signed the 1707 Act of Union with England ‘were obliged to hold their meetings in secret, lest they should have been assaulted by the rabble [of protesters].’ Most Scots opposed the treaty but they had no vote. Robert Burns, in a poem of 1791, wrote that the aristocrats who signed it had been bribed and the nation ‘sold for English gold’.


A 14


Morocco Land


265 Canongate


This 17th-century tenement was rebuilt in the 1950s after part of it collapsed. Reconstruction salvaged its unique feature – the statue on the façade of a Moor.


Urban myth says it represents Andrew Gray, a fugitive from justice after assaulting the Lord Provost of Edinburgh. He escaped to the Barbary Coast where he found favour and fortune with the Sultan of Morocco.


Eventually, he returned with a crew of pirates and threatened to loot the city. He was pardoned after volunteering to cure the Lord Provost’s daughter of the plague, married her and settled here.


Good story, but the Moor on the façade was more likely to have advertised a Morocco leather dealer or a bookbinder.
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A 15


Tweeddale Court


14 High Street


A wrought-iron gate at the end of the close opens to a courtyard and Tweeddale House (c.1576), named for the Marquess of Tweeddale who bought it in 1670. The British Linen Bank acquired the property in 1791. The courtyard was a crime scene in 1806 when a bank messenger was murdered and robbed of £4,000. Most of the cash was found hidden in a wall not far away but the killer was not caught. Later owners of the house included printers Oliver & Boyd whose name is above the door.


Also in the courtyard is a fragment of the King’s Wall, a fortification built by James II that once marked the limits of the Old Town. Attached to it is an 18th-century shed used for storing sedan chairs on which the well-to-do could be carried so as not to set foot on the town’s filthy streets.
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A 16


Scottish Storytelling Centre


43–45 High Street


Malcolm Fraser Architects 2006
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An award-winning retrofit of the 1970s Netherbow Arts Centre, inspired by an old Scottish proverb: ‘The story is told eye to eye, mind to mind and heart to heart.’


The intervention, with a forestair and ‘outlook’ tower, incorporates the historic John Knox House. The centre’s tower recalls Netherbow Port, the most impressive of the Old Town’s six medieval gates. The panel with the legend ‘1606, God save the King’ on the wall of the tower is a relic of the gate’s reconstruction (a carving on the façade of the adjacent tenement shows how it looked).


The gate was demolished in 1764 because it was no longer needed for defence and was too narrow for the increase in traffic. Its clock was later attached to Dean Orphanage (now the National Gallery Modern Two building). Its bell, cast in the Netherlands in 1621, hangs in a niche at the top of the Storytelling Centre’s tower.


A 17


John Knox House and Moubray House


43–45 and 51–53 High Street
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Dating back to 1470, the John Knox House is the oldest medieval building on the Royal Mile. Knox, the preacher of the Scottish Reformation, is said to have lived here, a link which saved the house from demolition in the 19th century.
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